

Contents lists available at ScienceDirect

Journal of Hazardous Materials



journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/jhazmat

Review Application of vegetable oils in the treatment of polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons-contaminated soils

C.L. Yap^a, S. Gan^{a,*}, H.K. Ng^b

^a Department of Chemical and Environmental Engineering, The University of Nottingham Malaysia Campus, Jalan Broga, 43500 Semenyih, Selangor Darul Ehsan, Malaysia ^b Department of Mechanical, Materials and Manufacturing Engineering, The University of Nottingham Malaysia Campus, Jalan Broga, 43500 Semenyih, Selangor Darul Ehsan, Malaysia

A R T I C L E I N F O

Article history: Received 7 August 2009 Received in revised form 21 October 2009 Accepted 12 November 2009 Available online 18 November 2009

Keywords: Polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (PAHs) Vegetable oil Soil remediation Contaminated soil

ABSTRACT

A brief review is conducted on the application of vegetable oils in the treatment of PAH-contaminated soils. Three main scopes of treatment strategies are discussed in this work including soil washing by oil, integrated oil-biological treatment and integrated oil-non-biological treatment. For each of these, the arguments supporting vegetable oil application, the applied treatment techniques and their efficiencies, associated factors, as well as the feasibility of the techniques are detailed. Additionally, oil regeneration, the environmental impacts of oil residues in soil and comparison with other commonly employed techniques are also discussed.

© 2009 Elsevier B.V. All rights reserved.

Contents

1.	Introd	luction		29				
2.	Physic	Physical extraction						
	2.1.	2.1. The role of vegetable oil in desorption, solubility and extraction of PAHs						
	2.2.	Oil/soil	extraction system	32				
	2.3. Oil/water/soil extraction system							
	2.4. Associated factors							
	2.5.	Feasibil	ity	32				
3.	Integr	ated oil-	biological treatment	32				
	3.1.	The role	e of vegetable oil in enhancing biodegradation	33				
		3.1.1.	Enhanced mass transfer through physiochemical process	33				
		3.1.2.	Increased surface area for microbial contact	33				
		3.1.3.	Reduced surface tension by oil components	33				
		3.1.4.	Enhanced biosurfactant production	33				
		3.1.5.	Extra carbon and energy source	34				
		3.1.6.	Initiation of degradation by MnP-mediated lipid peroxidation	34				
		3.1.7.	Enhanced PAH degrading enzyme production	35				
		3.1.8.	Selective enrichment of PAH degrading microbes	35				
	3.2.	Sequent	tial bioslurry treatment with post-two-liquid phase (TLP) extraction	36				
	3.3. Bioslurry treatment		ry treatment	36				
	3.4.	3.4. Solid phase composting						
	3.5.	.5. Sequential in situ biotic and abiotic treatment						
	3.6. Associated factors							
	3.7.	Feasibil	bility					
4.	Integr	ated oil-	non-biological treatment	37				
5.	Vegetable oil regeneration							

* Corresponding author. Tel.: +60 3 8924 8162; fax: +60 3 8924 8017. *E-mail address:* suyin.gan@nottingham.edu.my (S. Gan).

^{0304-3894/\$ -} see front matter © 2009 Elsevier B.V. All rights reserved. doi:10.1016/j.jhazmat.2009.11.078

6.	Environmental impacts of vegetable oil residues in soil	37
7.	Comparison with other PAH soil remediation techniques	38
8.	Conclusions	39
	References	39

1. Introduction

Polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (PAHs) are one of the most widespread organic pollutants in soil. They are mainly formed from anthropogenic processes, as by-products of incomplete combustion of carbon-containing fuels such as coal, petroleum and their related products. The severe contamination of PAHs in soil is commonly associated with industries such as gas manufacturing, coke production, wood preserving and petroleum refining.

The accumulation of PAHs in soil can lead to the contamination of the food chain, which then cause direct or indirect exposure to humans. PAHs may also transport to air and groundwater through evaporation, leaching and migration. PAH concentrations ranging from $1 \mu g/kg$ to over 300 g/kg have been reported in soils and sediments from both contaminated and uncontaminated sites [1]. The presence of PAH compounds in soils is an issue of concern due to their carcinogenic, mutagenic, and tetratogenic properties [2]. In 2008, 28 PAHs have been identified as priority pollutants by the National Waste Minimization Programme, a project which is funded by US Environment Protection Agency [3].

Commonly employed remediation technologies for treating PAH-contaminated soils include soil washing or solvent extraction, bioremediation and chemical oxidation. In all PAH remediation techniques, a major influencing factor is the tendency of PAHs to adsorb tightly to organic matter in soil due to their hydrophobic nature. This renders them less susceptible to desorption, as well as biological and chemical degradation. In addition, prolonged aging time in contaminated soil promotes the sequestration of PAH molecules into micropores and increases the recalcitrance of PAHs towards treatment [4]. Hence, consideration has to be given to the desorption, dissolution and availability of PAHs to added chemicals in developing effective remediation techniques. An interesting advancement in the field of soil remediation for hydrophobic organic compounds is the inclusion of vegetable oil in various technologies. Vegetable oil offers multiple applications in soil remediation, ranging from its utilisation as a solvent to physically extract PAHs to its usage as soil amendment to enhance biological and non-biological treatments. To date, comprehensive reviews of remediation technologies specifically for PAH-contaminated soils have been reported in the specialised literature [5-9]. Previous works have either concentrated solely on one technology or evaluated various technologies for removal or destruction of PAHs in soils. Hence, this review is focussed on the application of vegetable oils in the treatment of PAH-contaminated soils which appears not to have been fully explored. In this paper, three main scopes of treatment strategies including soil washing using vegetable oil, integrated oil-biological treatment and integrated oil-non-biological treatment are reviewed, with an emphasis on the theoretical arguments supporting vegetable oil application. The applied treatment techniques are discussed from various aspects including removal efficiency, associated factors and feasibility of techniques. Comparison of remediation techniques which utilise vegetable oil with other commonly employed techniques is also included. Table 1 compiles the pertinent bibliographies studies in this field and forms the framework for the discussions in this review.

2. Physical extraction

2.1. The role of vegetable oil in desorption, solubility and extraction of PAHs

The addition of vegetable oil onto the soil matrix can be classified as a co-solute or co-solvent or solvent depending on the oil/water/soil ratio. At significant concentrations, vegetable oil acts as an immiscible organic liquid which affects the behaviour of hydrophobic contaminants including PAHs sorbed onto the soil matrix through competitive, cooperative or solvency effects [10]. Competitive and solvency effects would reduce the sorption of hydrophobic contaminants onto the soil, whereas cooperative effect would enhance the sorption. Competitive effect typically occurs when the addition of immiscible liquid such as oil is relatively small in quantity. In this case, the oil competes with the organic contaminants for the bounding sites of the soil, hence promoting desorption of contaminants from the soil matrix. Cooperative effect occurs when the immiscible oil contributes to the organic matter in the soil matrix and creates bounding sites for the organic contaminants to bind onto and sink into the soil matrix [11]. When the quantity and polarity of the immiscible liquid oil is large enough to dissolve the hydrophobic contaminants, this results in the solvency effect whereby the contaminants would be desorbed, dissolved and extracted from the soil matrix [12,13]. The effect which will be dominant is dependent on the interactions between the multi-components in the soil matrix.

The propensity of PAHs towards lipid phase than aqueous phase was clearly observed through the transfer of PAHs into the lipid tissues of marine aquatic life from contaminated sediment and the measured solubility of PAHs which was 4–5 orders of magnitude higher in oil phase than in aqueous phase [14]. Vegetable oils are complex mixtures of numerous organic compounds, which are largely composed of triglycerides (93–99%) with smaller amounts of phospholipids, free fatty acids, unsaponifiables, and tocopherols [15]. Their physical properties resemble mineral oil and they are categorised as light non-aqueous phase liquids (LNAPLs). The partition of hydrophobic compounds into this non-aqueous phase liquid is in many ways comparable to sorption onto soil organic matter.

Chiou [16] determined the partition coefficients for 38 different hydrophobic organic compounds in triolein–water systems (K_{triow}) and found them to be slightly greater than the octanol–water (K_{ow}) coefficient when the log K_{ow} of the compound was \leq 5.10. When the log K_{ow} of the compound was \geq 5.58, K_{triow} was found to be slightly smaller than K_{ow} . Since the soil adsorption coefficient (K_{oc}) of a PAH is always smaller than K_{ow} [17] and the K_{triow} greater than K_{ow} until log K_{ow} exceeds 5.58, it can be expected that the partition of a PAH would favour the vegetable oil phase than the soil organic phase for log K_{ow} up to 5.58 or higher. The dissolution or desorption of PAHs when vegetable oil is added to soil has been observed through increasing soil toxicity [18]. Additionally, the inclusion of oil dissolves the soil organic material that binds PAHs, which then acts as a co-solute which enhances the capacity of oil to extract PAHs from contaminated soil.

Zemanek et al. [19] studied the partitioning of PAHs in the presence of a hydrophobic oil/water/soil system. The direction of partitioning of PAHs from aqueous phase to oil phase was more pronounced for low molecular weight (LMW) PAHs than high molecular weight (HMW) PAHs. In contrast, the direction of par-

29

Table 1 Bibliographic compilation of studies on the application of vegetable oils in PAH-contaminated soil treatments

Reference	Oil type	Treatment description	Oil:soil	Water: soil	Spiked ^a or Field ^b soil	% of PAHs removed (% enhanced) ^c	Other parameters studied	Comments	
Physical extraction									
[29]	Peanut oil	Batch extraction by oil	2.5% (w/w)	0.75:1	S	90.0-92.0	Soil type, moisture content,	Offers fast remediation of heavily contaminated sites. Most suited to sites which pose severe health and environmental risks	
		siurry system.	$2x^{d}$ (5% w/w)	0.75:1	S	91.4	temperature, oil concentration,		
		Batch extraction by oil/slurry/polystyrene foam	0.5-1% (w/w)	1:1	r S	90.0	PAHs concentration	whereby the curbing of pollutants spread is critical.	
		particles system			F	73.0			
[24]	Sunflower oil	 Batch extraction by oil only Oil regeneration with activated carbon 	1:1 (v/dw) or 2:1 (v/dw)	Field moist	F	81–100	Dissolution kinetics, oil/soil ratio, PAHs size		
[26]	Sunflower oil	Batch extraction by oil only	1:1 (v/dw)	Field moist	F	67.2	Dissolution kinetics, moisture content,		
			2:1 (v/dw)	Air dried Field moist	F	90.2 81.5	PAHs concentration, PAHs size, oil:soil ratio, mass balance		
				Air dried	F	97.0			
		Column extraction by	$2x^{d}$ (1:1 v/w)	Field moist	F	65.6			
		oil/oil only		Air dried	F	96.3			
[25]	Sunflower oil	Column extraction by oil only	2x ^d (1:1 v/w)	Field moist	F	>90	Contact time (flow rate), volume of oil, PAHs concentration, PAHs size,		
		·	4x ^d (1:1v/w)	Air dried	F	>90	biodegradation of oil residue		
Integrated o	il-biological treatment								
[91]	NA ^e	Oil amended biodegradation with by white-rot fungi in soil	5% (w/dw)	5:1	F	36	Surfactant, removal of various vegetable oils, % inoculation	In situ techniques involve low cost and offer long-term soil recovery. Suitable for remediation of sites for future agricultural use.	
		slurry system			F	83			
[14]	Rapeseed oil	Two sequential:					Partitioning study, oil:soil ratio, partitioning time, multiple extractions, microbial analysis	Ex situ techniques remediate within reasonable treatment durations. Suited to sites requiring remediation to meet clean-up	
		1. Biodegradation in bioslurry reactor by mixed inoculated microbes.	-	10:1	F	44–64	post-bioslurry degradation, post- bioslurry-surfactant treatment	standards.	
		2. Two-liquid-phase (oil/water/soil) extraction.	26.7% (v/dw)	5.4:1	-	85–94 (3 rings:+30) (5 rings:+41)			

Tab	le 1	(Contini	ued)
		•	

Reference	Oil type	Treatment description	Oil:soil	Water: soil	Spiked ^a or Field ^b soil	% of PAHs removed (% enhanced) ^c	Other parameters studied	Comments
[77]	Peanut oil	Oil amended biodegradation by mixed inoculated microbes in bioslurry reactor	0.2%	2:1	F	54.4-96.5 (PHE: +21.4) ^f (BAP: +27.4) ^f	% oil, PAHs concentration, HMW versus LMW PAHs, log colony forming unit, pure culture versus mixed culture	
		Combination of oil and activated carbon (1%) for biodegradation in aqueous mixed bacteria culture	0.1%	-	S	45.2 (ANT: +10.1) ^f		
[62]	Rapeseed oil	Biodegradation by <i>Rhodococcus sp</i> . on oil- amended soil	1% (w/w)	60% of WHC ^g	S	22.6-61.2 (PHE: -9.9) ^f (BAP: -2.5) ^f	Degradation in liquid culture, biosurfactant production and effect, PAH-degrading strain identification, the use of PAHs as sole carbon source	
[58]	Rapeseed oil	Biodegradation by <i>R.</i> wratislaviensis on oil- amended soil	1% (w/w)	60% of WHC ^g	S	43.8–99.0 (PHE: –32.8) ^f (BAP: +42.0) ^f	Biotic versus abiotic degradation, mineralisation, microbial activity, surfactant production	
[92]	Rapeseed oil	Two-sequential: 1. Biodegradation by mycobacterium. 2. Oil-amended abiotic treatment.	1% (w/w)	60% of WHC ^g	S	85–99 (PHE: +0.1) ^f (BAP: +39.5) ^f	Isolation, identification and characterisation of PAH-degrading microorganisme, degradation in liquid culture.	
[78]	Soybean oil	Composting by white-rot fungi on oil- amended soil.	2.5% (w/w)	0.15:1	S	75-100 (PHE: +11.1; +19.3) ^{f.h} (BAP: +22.2; +24.2) ^{f.h}	Impact of mobilizing agent on fungal growth, activity of enzyme, microbial density, composition and diversity of bacteria	
[93]	Canola oil	Biodegradation by adapted mixed culture on oil-amended soil slurry	0.1% (w/dw)	4:1	F	No reduction	PAHs bioavailability, PAHs in supernatant, oil concentration in soil	
[39]	Canola oil	Biodegradation by adapted mixed culture on oil-amended soil slurry	1% (w/dw)	4:1	F	5.6–6.8 (FLT +10,+35) ^f (BAP: -2, -2.5) ^f	PAHs bioaccessibility, biodegradation of LMW versus HMW PAHs, biodegradation of oil	
Integrated oil-non-biological treatment								
[99]	Palm Kernel oil, corn oil	Fenton reaction in oil- amended soil slurry	5%	5:1	F	20–46 ⁱ	Abiotic versus biotic, incorporation of CaO ₂	Rapid, destructive, and insensitive to external disturbance. Suited to sites requiring immediate remediation.

^a Spiked soil (S).

^b Field soil (F).

^c % enhanced = % removal of PAHs in oil-amended soil – % removal of PAHs in unamended soil; (+): enhance and (-): depress.

^d Multiple extractions.

^e NA: not available.

^f ANT: anthracene; BAP: benzo[a]pyrene; PHE: phenanthrene.

^g WHC: water holding capacity.

^h % enhanced by Irpex lacteus; % enhanced by Pleurotus ostreatus.

ⁱ Data estimated from graph.

titioning for HMW was mainly from soil organic matter (SOM) to oil. This was expected since HMW PAHs have lower water solubility compared to LMW PAHs.

The solubility of PAHs in oil is dependent on the type of oil. PAH solubility in oil reduces with increasing molecular size and water solubility of the compounds. Reported values for the solubility of phenanthrene, anthracene, fluoranthene and pyrene in rapeseed oil were 94 g/l, 4 g/l, 65 g/l and 57 g/l respectively with the total of 220 g/l [14]. These values were much greater compared to solubility in silicone oil (phenanthrene: 5 mg/l; pyrene: 2 mg/l) [20]. On the other hand, free fatty acids solutions have solubility ratios for PAHs (phenanthrene and pyrene) which are very similar to those of synthetic chemical surfactant [21,22], as do esterified fatty acids derived from coconut oil [23].

2.2. Oil/soil extraction system

Gong et al. [24-26] used sunflower oil as a sole extraction solvent for highly PAH-contaminated field soil. According to the authors, the use of sunflower oil, rapeseed oil and soybean oil resulted in similar extraction efficiencies although the data was not shown. In batch systems, the ratio of oil:soil of 1-2:1 (v/w)gave rapid dissolution of PAHs within 1–3 days (LMW and HMW PAHs respectively) with 67-100% removal for the contamination range of 1254.8-5400 mg/kg. Using column systems, the oil:soil ratio increased to 4:1 to give more than 90% removal for highly contaminated soil with 4721 mg/kg PAH concentration. For lower PAH soil concentration of 724 mg/kg, an oil:soil ratio of 2:1 was necessary to give 80% removal. Under the best proposed combination of air-dried soil with oil:soil ratio of 2:1 in the batch study, the molecular weight of PAHs was found to have no influence on the mass transfer rate. The removal efficiencies of HMW PAHs were consistently higher than their LMW counterparts irrespective of the individual PAH concentrations. This was considered to be advantageous since other conventional remediation techniques often face difficulties in removing HMW PAHs.

The kinetics of dissolution from the batch studies fitted well to an empirical first order model proposed by Woolgar and Jones [27]. This takes the form of $C_0 = C_e[1 - \exp(-kt)]$ whereby C_0 is the PAH concentration in the oil phase at time t, k is the mass transfer coefficient that measures the propensity of PAHs existing in each phase, C_e is the equilibrium oil phase PAH concentration indicating the particular extraction efficiency and t is the contact time with oil. During the initial phase, solubilisation was found to be rapid (within 24 h), followed by a phase of slower dissolution, which was in line with the kinetics of dissolution for common chemicals [28].

2.3. Oil/water/soil extraction system

Pannu et al. [29] used an oil/water extraction system to extract PAHs from contaminated soil. The oil used was 4 orders of magnitude less than the sole oil extraction system proposed by Gong et al. [24–26]. The study proposed the addition of 75% water to form an oil/water/soil slurry. For PAH concentrations of 100 mg/kg or below, a single extraction using 2.5% (w/w) oil would be enough whereas for higher concentrations of 1000 mg/kg or above, a double extraction using 5% + 5% (w/w) oil was needed to achieve 91.4% and 83.7% removal in spiked and field soils respectively. The authors also studied the addition of absorbent polystyrene to the extraction system, and managed to reduce the oil dosage to one order of magnitude lower (0.25% instead of 2.5%). The separation of oil phase was achieved by floatation of the cellular foam.

2.4. Associated factors

The increase in water content reduced the extraction efficiency in the sole oil extraction system [25] but enhanced the extraction efficiency of the oil/water extraction system [29]. In the former, the inhibition effect was more obvious in column than in batch extraction process. The contradictory findings could possibly be due to the difference in extraction solvent [30], soil compounds [31] and extraction mechanism [32].

The volume of oil applied is dependent on the extent of contamination. Higher concentration of PAHs in soil required greater amount of oil for extraction [25,29]. However, for moist soil, too high an oil:soil ratio (2:1) was demonstrated to reduce the mass transfer rate of PAHs, which might be due to the reduction of contact sites between oil and contaminants [26].

Soil characteristics are another factor to be considered in the extraction of PAHs. Silt/clay soil retains more PAHs than sandy loam soil. The organic matter associated with larger particle size soil fractions was significantly less effective as a sorbent compared to that associated with finer particle sizes [33].

A pH within the range of 4–8 gave the highest oil recovery of more than 90% from soil whereas at pH of 6–7, the PAH extraction efficiency was highest [29]. High temperature, proper mixing and longer contact time (i.e. longer agitation in batch extraction or lower flow rate in column extraction) increased the rate of mass transfer, and led to the improvement in extraction efficiency [24,25,29,34]. Cold temperatures were less favourable for extraction due to the higher oil viscosity and slower metabolic rates.

Multiple extractions resulted in higher removal efficiencies than a single extraction [29]. This can be attributed to Fick's law of diffusion which states that fresh solvent increases the PAH concentration gradient and hence promotes the mass transfer and increases the extraction rate. In the case of multiple extractions, the extraction duration was shown to be of minor importance [14].

2.5. Feasibility

The potential of using vegetable oil as solvent in soil washing to remove PAHs is evident from the series of experiments described. This technique can be applied in situ and ex situ, and is convenient for highly contaminated soil urgently needing remediation. However, due to the high quantity of oil used in the case of sole oil extraction, the regeneration and reuse of the oil is essential from an economic and environmental point of view. This may ultimately involve multiple remedial steps and higher cost. Additionally, vegetable oil extraction is only able to transfer the PAHs onto a different phase but not destroy these pollutants. As for oil/water extraction, the aqueous solution needs to be cleaned up of the oil. This can be achieved by biodegradation if the amount of PAHs is limited. High concentrations of retained oil in the soil can also negatively affect the ecology. The quality of soil may deteriorate hence limiting future reuse of the treated site. Nevertheless, soil extraction with vegetable oil is still more environmentally friendly compared to extraction with volatile solvents or chemical surfactants.

3. Integrated oil-biological treatment

The main disadvantage of biodegradation is that it is a timeconsuming process. For instance, the reported half lives for phenanthrene in soil ranged from 16 to 126 days while for benzo[a]pyrene, the half lives ranged from 91 to more than 1400 days [35,36–38]. Bioavailability is one of the most important factors limiting bioremediation rate [39]. In order to degrade organic compounds, the degrading microbes or their extracellular enzymes require physical contact with the compounds [40]. To attain this contact, conventionally the compound must be water-dissolved [41,42] and located at the advecting-water layer outside the soil pore or in a soil pore with a pore neck greater than $0.3 \,\mu m$ [43]. However, the aqueous concentration of PAHs is so small that the contribution of biodegradation in the aqueous phase can be considered to be negligible. With regards to this, Robinson et al. [44] have suggested that for compounds with low water solubility, biodegradation occurs predominantly in the organic matter of soil phase or sorbed phase substrate that can be easily desorbed.

3.1. The role of vegetable oil in enhancing biodegradation

3.1.1. Enhanced mass transfer through physiochemical process

PAHs especially those with HMW are tightly bound to the soil hence the direct usage of bioremediation in the soil phase is limited. In contrast, the inclusion of oil promotes desorption of PAHs from the soil phase and sorption onto the oil phase, thereby enabling effortless biological uptake due to easy desorption from oil/water interface or oil/soil interface. Coating of soil particles with vegetable oil may also help in diffusive movement of PAHs especially since fatty acid is able to diffuse into small micropores that are inaccessible to bacteria cells [45]. Considering that diffusion is a dynamic process, this fatty acid may act as carrier to transport the PAHs out from the micropores, making them available for biological uptake. The potential of vegetable oils in this role can be observed from their common usage as carriers for hydrophobic herbicides in soil [46].

Although the partition of inaccessible hydrophobic contaminant molecules into the oil phase was proven to significantly increase contaminants biodegradation [39], the extent of increase in bioaccessibility was strongly dependent upon the strength of contaminants sorption towards soil constituents and soil organic carbon. For instance, lower biodegradation was found on oil-amended manufactured gas plant (MGP) soil compared to preserved railroad sleeper soil, suggesting that the vegetable oil induced PAH mobilisation was limited to less strongly bound contaminants [39].

Scherr et al. [39] reported that maximum oil degradation occurred with the highest increase of PAH content in the water phase. They also suggested that biodegradation of canola oil and/or its metabolic by-products might also contribute to the observed mobilisation effects and possible subsequent biodegradation of otherwise unavailable contaminants from soil particles. The observed mobilisation effects were small but statistically significant.

3.1.2. Increased surface area for microbial contact

Several mycobacteria (a group of gram positive bacteria) are capable of adjusting the composition of mycolic acids (C80-C90 fatty acids) of their cell walls to be more hydrophobic [47]. This may offer better contact of microorganisms with oil droplets or adhesion to oil droplets, hence favouring the uptake of pseudosolubilised substrate or substrate dissolved in oil droplets, such as PAHs for biodegradation [48,49]. The enhancement of biodegradation, due to the better attachment of the microorganisms on various surfaces including hydrophobic solvent [48], crude oil [49], surfactant [49] and polymer membranes [50] has been reported. Delivery of the encapsulated PAHs in oil droplets to membrane-bound enzymes is possible since the increase of biodegradation and utilisation of alkane encapsulated in liposomes as a growth substrate by a Pseudomonas strain has been observed [51]. The change of mycolic acid on the cell wall was also proven to facilitate the mineralisation of pyrene [52] and anthracene [53]. The mineralisation of pyrene was found to be 8.5 times higher in paraffin oil augmented cells than in the aqueous phase [54].

In adapting to the hydrophobic compounds or substrates such as PAHs or vegetable oil, the PAH degrader usually has the ability to form biofilms at the interface of the aqueous and hydrophobic phases that facilitate the direct uptake of these substrates [55]. Biofilm-mediated biodegradation has been found to be more effective than planktonic bacteria remediation since cells growing within a biofilm have higher chances of adapting to different environments and surviving [56]. Besides that, the oil surface area is also important in the sense that biodegradation occurs at the oil–water or oil–soil interface.

3.1.3. Reduced surface tension by oil components

The phospholipids, fatty acids and neutral lipids present in the vegetable oil can contribute to the surfactant effect [57]. Similar to surfactants, these lipid compounds are amphiphilic, i.e. containing hydrophobic and hydrophilic portions that reduce the free energy of the system by replacing the bulk molecules of higher energy at an interface. This interface is present at the boundary among immiscible substances including the hydrophobic phase of the contaminants and aqueous phase. The lipids weaken the interfacial tension and change the properties of an interface. This promotes the mobility and the displacement of the contaminants and subsequent desorption from the soil matrix. One study showed that the surface tension of the sterile soil dropped immediately after the addition of rapeseed oil, indicating that the oil itself served as a surfactant [58]. The decrease in surface tension increased with increasing oil concentration. With addition of 1% rapeseed oil, the surface tension was reduced from 71 mN/m to 56.7 mN/m.

Conversely, Yi and Crowley [45] stated that the addition of linoleic acid (10 mg/ml) slightly above the critical micelle concentration (CMC) inhibited pyrene degradation in liquid medium. The pyrene might have occluded within micelles which were inaccessible to bacteria cells. Higher levels of linoleic acid in soil required for the promotion of pyrene degradation also reflects the increase of required concentration due to adsorption of the surfactant to soil particles [45]. Varying effects of different surfactants on PAH degradation in soil have also been reported [49,59,60].

3.1.4. Enhanced biosurfactant production

The addition of vegetable oil to enhance the production of rhamnolipid-type biosurfactant has been demonstrated using the genus *Pseudomonas*. A probable reason for this tendency is that *Pseudomonas* is lipase positive which facilitates the assimilation of fatty acids contained in vegetable oil fractions [61]. Rapeseed oil [62], babassu oil [63], canola oil [64], corn oil [64], olive oil [65,66], soybean oil [64,66], palm oil [65], coconut oil [65], sunflower oil [66] and castor oil [66] have all been shown to promote the production of surfactant by *Pseudomonas* bacteria.

The production of biosurfactant is highly related to the type of substrate [62]. Olive oil and rapeseed oil were found to be the best carbon source for biosurfactant production compared to hexadecane and glucose [61]. In addition, olive oil, palm oil and coconut oil were also discovered to be able to stimulate the production of rhamnolipid by P. Aeruginosa [61]. Rhamnolipids produced by P. Aeruginosa strains are among the most effective surfactants for the removal of hydrophobic compounds from contaminated soils [67]. They have low average minimum surface tension of 30-32 mN/m, high average emulsifying activity of 10.4-15.5 U/ml filtrate and low CMC of 5-65 mg/l [67]. Palm oil was the best compared to olive oil and coconut oil in lowering surface tension. Shorter chain fatty acids resulted in higher biosurfactant activity while higher unsaturated fatty acid promoted higher oil displacement activity and rhamnose content [65]. Glycerol, as another main hydrolysis product of oil, did not facilitate biosurfactant production [65]. Both rapeseed oil [62] and olive oil [68] have been utilised by Gordonia sp. to induce emulsification. In this case, the presence of both oil and extracellular biosurfactant were responsible for the formation and stabilisation of foam [68].

Induced biosurfactants may be able to facilitate the uptake of PAHs after their pseudosolubilisation, enhance the removal of PAHs from soils and accelerate their biodegradation [69]. Deschênes et al. [70] also reported that rhamnolipids could enhance the solubilisation of 4-ring PAHs more significantly than 3-ring PAHs and with efficiencies 5 times higher than the anionic surfactant sodium dodecyl sulfate (SDS). Moreover, the uptake of biosurfactantsolubilised molecules was measured to be faster than the uptake of truly dissolved (i.e. monodisperse) molecules. Many biosurfactant are constituents of cell envelopes [71], which indicates the interaction of biosurfactant micelles with cell membranes and the possibility of a fusion between micelles and cells. This inevitably eases the uptake of PAHs.

Nonetheless, biosurfactant production under environmental conditions is not common [72]. Pizzul et al. demonstrated the production of biosurfactant by *Rhodococcus wratislaviensis* in oil-amended aqueous culture [62], but no biosurfactant activities were observed when inoculation was carried out on oil-amended PAH-contaminated soil [58]. Johnsen et al. [55] suggested that the release of biosurfactant was a way for hydrophobic cells of microbes to leave hydrophobic surfaces such as PAHs (or oil), for instance when the cells at the bottom of the biofilm became oxygen-limited. This process was likely to occur in oil-amended soil.

3.1.5. Extra carbon and energy source

The biological degradation of PAHs, as outlined by Johnsen et al. [55], can serve three different functions: (a) assimilative biodegradation that yields carbon and energy for the microorganism and goes along with the mineralisation of the compound, generally accompanied by the growth of the microbes (b) intercellular detoxification process that render the PAHs water-soluble and hence their excretion and (c) cometabolism which is the degradation of PAHs by the non-specific enzymatic reactions, without the production of energy and carbon for the organism metabolism. LMW PAHs are frequently used as the sole source of carbon and energy for microbial growth and maintenance [73] while mineralisation of more than 3 aromatic rings is less common [74] and in some cases only possible in the presence of other substrates or co-substrates [75]. Bacteria capable of utilising 5-ring or more PAHs as a sole source of carbon and energy have so far never been demonstrated. Hence, all reported biotransfomation of PAHs occurred under cometabolic conditions and by only a few bacterial species (such as Mycobacterium sp. and Sphingomonas sp.) and mixed microbial cultures [76].

The addition of vegetable oil increased the biodegradation of phenanthrene in liquid cultures of actinomycetes (bacteria), even in cultures that do not use phenanthrene as the sole carbon source [62]. This showed that vegetable oil could act as primary carbon and energy source to induce cometabolic degradation of phenanthrene. In contrast, Pannu et al. [77] reported the addition of 0.1% of peanut oil facilitated the growth on *C. testosteroni* (bacteria). More studies are needed to elucidate the use of vegetable oil as an extra carbon source in enhancing PAH degradation by bacteria.

For PAH degrading white-rot fungi, the use of vegetable oil could significantly serve as an extra carbon and energy source to support fungi growth, either in the soil system [78] or liquid cultures [79,80]. This is of particular significance since 5-ring and above PAHs are mainly degraded by fungi through their non-specific extracellular enzyme.

The soil bacteria are generally thought to be carbon and energystarved [55] and thus the addition of oil may be one of their carbon sources to maintain biomass rather than promoting growth. It is also possible that copiotrophic soil bacteria which grow rapidly in the presence of easily degradable substrate like vegetable oil colonise the surrounding of vegetable oil droplets [81]. As PAHdegrading bacteria are assumed to be oligotrophic [55], they are suppressed by such rapidly growing, opportunist soil microbes.

Some studies have suggested that the degrading organisms may prefer vegetable oil over PAHs as an energy source. In one such study [58], it was reported that the mobilisation of PAHs by vegetable oil lowered the affinity of degrading microorganism to substrate as evident from a longer lag phase for phenanthrene degradation by autochthonous microflora after oil addition. In this case, the explanation given was that the microorganism only started using the PAHs as substrate after the degradation of oil. This shift of substrate towards vegetable oil was supported by the significant decrease of mineralisation over percent of biodegradation for the PAHs tested, i.e. ¹⁴C-phenanthrene, ¹⁴C-pyrene and ¹⁴C-benzo[a]pyrene in the presence of 1% (w/w) rapeseed oil or in 30% (v/v) rapeseed oil emulsion [58,81] whereas the reduction in the presence of 0.1% (w/w) rapeseed oil was not significant [58].

3.1.6. Initiation of degradation by MnP-mediated lipid peroxidation

Pizzul et al. [58] observed that rapeseed oil tremendously enhanced degradation of anthracene and benzo[a]pyrene but with accompanying accumulation of anthraquinone. This was explained by the release of extracellular lignin-degrading enzymes, manganese peroxidase (MnP) from microbial systems that triggered lipid peroxidation of unsaturated fatty acids in the oil which led to the production of PAH-oxidising radicals. The accumulation of anthraquinone as metabolites was proof of this as anthraquinone is the main metabolite of anthracene in the MnP system.

MnP is a common enzyme released by white-rot fungi and litter-decomposing fungi. The MnP-mediated lipid peroxidation and the radicals generated have been comprehensively explained by Wanatabe et al. [82] and the process is depicted in Fig. 1 [82]. In this system, the abstraction of hydrogen atom by the peroxyl radicals to generate a hydroperoxide is the rate-limiting step of vegetable oil peroxidation. The rate constant for this rate-limiting step depends primarily on the strength of the carbon-hydrogen bond being broken. The strength of a carbon-hydrogen bond next to a carbon-carbon double bond is lower and the hydrogen can be removed easily. Thus oils containing double bonds are more susceptible to lipid peroxidation. Vegetable oils containing high percentage of unsaturated fatty acids are expected to react more readily than less unsaturated oils [83]. On the other hand, unsaturated lipid in the form of monoglyceride is more efficient in the MnP-mediated lipid peroxidation degradation than their fatty acid counterpart or fatty acid-based surfactant.

In both in-vitro and in-vivo studies, the simple MnP system of lignin peroxidase (LP) is only able to oxidise PAHs with ionisation potential less than 7.5 eV (e.g. benzo[a]pyrene and anthracene). However, in the presence of lipids, the occurrence of MnP-mediated lipid peroxidation via unsaturated fatty acids or their derivatives enabled substantial decrease of all PAHs, included those with high ionisation potential [84], poor bioavailability (benzo[g,h,i]perylene and indenol[1,2,3-cd]pyrene) [84], as well as complex PAH mixtures (creosote) [85].

Lipid peroxidation can also be initiated by ions such as Mn^{2+} and Mn^{3+} as well as photooxidation of vegetable oil [34,86]. Once initiated, this oxidation process can continue independently, through propagation and sufficient oxygen supply. Even though biological processes may be involved at the beginning of the process, abiotic processes predominate in the transformation of compounds during the whole process.

Although studies have indicated that lipid degradation enhanced PAH degradation, PAH mineralisation did not seem to be enhanced by the process. It has been reported that even though the degradation of benzo[a]pyrene was 72.8% compared to an una-





Fig. 1. MnP-mediated lipid peroxidation schematic diagram (adapted from [82]). The lipid peroxidation can be initiated by MnP lignolytic enzyme or by photolysis. Once initiated, the process will propagate independently. The radicals produced are able to oxidise PAHs at various kinetic rates.

mended control with 30.8% degradation, the total mineralisation was approximately 9% [58]. Bezalel et al. [87] suggested that the complete mineralisation of HMW PAH requires a combination of lignolytic enzyme and non-lignolytic enzymes. The addition of vegetable oil may result in a deficiency in this combination.

3.1.7. Enhanced PAH degrading enzyme production

Soybean oil was shown to be able to promote the production of phenoloxidase enzyme (laccase) by white-rot fungi by five-fold compared to the no added oil control on a basal nutrient medium [88]. Laccase is also an extracellular enzyme that is able to degrade PAHs. Certain laccase mediator systems are even better in degrading PAHs compared to peroxidase (such as MnP and LiP) [89]. 35

However, Leonardi et al. [78] reported that depending on the fungi, the laccase activity in soybean amended soil can be enhanced or reduced (*I. Lacteus* and *P. Ostreatus* respectively).

3.1.8. Selective enrichment of PAH degrading microbes

Yi and Crowley [45] stated that linoleic acid was the main phytochemical in plant species that stimulated PAH degradation. This was proven by the direct addition of linoleic acid and sodium linoleate into the soil which acted as a powerful stimulant of pyrene and benzo[a]pyrene degradation. In contrast, other fatty acids such as oleic acid, linolenic acid and palmitic acid had no effects on PAH degradation. Overall 46-57% of pyrene removal was achieved in 20 days of incubation compared to the unamended control with 15% removal. A slightly longer period was required for benzo[a]pyrene compared to pyrene. After investigation, the gram positive mycobacteria was found to be the predominant group responding to linoleic acid which suggested the possibility of selective enrichment of this PAH degrading bacteria in soil in the presence of linoleic acid.

3.2. Sequential bioslurry treatment with post-two-liquid phase (TLP) extraction

Berg and Mattiasson [14] proposed a two-step remediation of PAH-contaminated soil comprising firstly biodegradation by PAH degraders in a slurry bioreactor for 30 days followed by abiotic extraction of the residue PAHs with rapeseed oil in a TLP slurry system using 7.5 ml of rapeseed oil for 28 g soil (around 26% v/w). Total PAH removal efficiencies within the range of 85–94% were obtained. The efficiency of biodegradation which decreased with increased molecular weight was compensated by the high affinity of all PAHs for the oil phase of the system.

The abiotic extraction followed the following steps: (1) suspension of soil particles on oil droplets, (2) partition of contaminants from the particles into the oil phase, and finally (3) the dilution of contaminated oil by fresh oil in multiple extractions or the continuous levelling out of the contaminants over the oil matrix in a single extraction. The efficiency of the treatment was dependent on many factors including the amount of oil used, the shaking intensity and pollutants composition. The authors also demonstrated that among the three tested post-bioslurry treatments, vegetable oil extraction was superior to commercial surfactant washing and biodegradation for subsequent removal of PAHs.

The advantage of the TLP system in increasing the mass transfer rates of the contaminants into the aqueous phase efficiently has long been recognised by researchers [20,54,90]. The use of vegetable oil in the TLP system is advantageous in the sense that vegetable oil is biodegradable whereas the residues of conventional non-biodegradable oil or immiscible liquid in treated soil may cause problems in reuse of soil.

3.3. Bioslurry treatment

Pannu et al. [77] described the effects of vegetable oil addition on the mixed bacteria inoculated PAH-contaminated weathered soil. The presence of 0.2% (w/w) of peanut oil stimulated the degradation of PAHs in a soil slurry system (2:1 water:soil ratio), whereby 96% of phenanthrene, 74% of anthracene, 65% of pyrene and 70% of benzo[a]pyrene were degraded after 24 days of incubation at 30 °C. In another study by Scherr et al. [39], biodegradation was conducted at 20 $^\circ\text{C}$ in the presence of 1% (v/v) canola oil in mixed culture inoculated soil slurry (20 ml water:5 g soil). The addition of oil increased the PAH accessibility up to 4 rings, but had no effect on 5 and 6 rings. Removal efficiencies of 78.7% and 23.9% were obtained for former railway sleeper preservation site soil within 105 days and former MGP plant within 98 days respectively. Bogan and Lamar [91] also carried out a similar biodegradation in a soil slurry system (20% dry wt.) with white-rot fungi. The addition of 5% (w/w) vegetable oil resulted in total removal efficiencies (13 PAHs) of 36% and 83.3% after 35 days, in coking plant soil and MGP soil respectively.

3.4. Solid phase composting

Leonardi et al. [78] were the only ones who studied treatment of PAH spiked soil using maize stalks previously colonised with whiterot fungi and incubated at 24 °C under dark and moist conditions (15% water). The addition of 2.5% (w/w) soybean oil enhanced the degradation of 7 spiked PAHs with total removal efficiencies within 75–100% after 42 days.

3.5. Sequential in situ biotic and abiotic treatment

Pizzul et al. [92] proposed an in situ two-step sequential treatment comprising biodegradation followed by oil addition to promote abiotic degradation. The system inoculated with indigenous PAH degrading microbes was given a lag time of 2 weeks for the degradation of LMW PAHs. Subsequently, this was followed by the addition of 1% (w/w) of oil for the microbes to stimulate the abiotic degradation, which was the release of radicals from lipid peroxidation to oxidise the recalcitrant HMW PAHs. High PAH removal efficiencies of 85–99% were achieved within 34 days. On the contrary, the abiotic process initiated by photooxidation or fungal enzyme was not observed by Scherr et al. [39]. This could possibly have been attributed to the differences in soil and type of vegetable oil or as reported by Leonardi et al. [78], the depression of MnP production by the oil.

3.6. Associated factors

The concentration of added vegetable oil is the main factor which dictates its effects on biological treatment and the associated biological-initiated abiotic treatment of contaminated soils. Vegetable oil additions ranging from 0.2% (w/w) to 5% (w/w) have been used as co-substrates to enhance biotransformation of PAHs by 11-68% under optimised conditions [14,39,77,78,91]. Here, the simultaneous provisions of oil and nutrients can magnify the ability of microbes to degrade PAH contaminants. Nonetheless, other studies indicated that vegetable oil addition into soil treatment resulted in either an inhibition effect [62] or no significant effect [93]. Above the optimised oil addition concentrations, degradation efficiency reduced [77], showed no significant changes or slight enhancement [39]. Excessive amounts of primary carbon source can inhibit biodegradation of the contaminants resulting in insufficient energy in the microorganisms to cometabolically degrade the pollutants [94].

Under optimised oil concentrations, the efficiency of oilamended biodegradation was not affected by the PAH concentration, however, above certain PAH concentrations, metabolites accumulation from cometabolism of PAHs might cause cytotoxicity and reduced biodegradation [77]. Apart from PAH concentration, the size of the PAH compounds and ageing of PAHcontaminated soil are factors to be considered in soil remediation. The majority of the studies reported that oil amendment favoured the biodegradation of HMW PAHs more than LMW PAHs [77,78]. In aged contaminated soils, contradictory findings on oil addition effects on HMW PAHs have been published [39,77].

3.7. Feasibility

The first two biologically integrated techniques discussed above involved the use of bioreactors. The disadvantages of this are the transportation of soil to special facilities and subsequent waste water treatment, which entail relatively high capital investment and subsequent high operating costs [95]. Slurry bioreactors only need small additions of vegetable oil to enhance degradation of PAHs due to optimum mixing conditions within the reactors. This minimises the environmental hazards as no oil recovery is required. However, experimental results have shown that the performances of oil-amended bioslurry treatments were inconsistent and poorer compared to the sequential treatment of bioslurry with post-TLP extraction especially for HMW PAHs. The drawback of the post-TLP extraction is the relatively high percentage of oil addition.

Solid phase composting is a simpler process compared to bioslurry treatment. No recycling of water or oil phase is needed. However, poorer mixing inevitably means higher oil addition is required and possible inconsistent degradation rates. In the case of in situ sequential treatment, only a small amount of oil is added at the latter stage to initiate subsequent abiotic PAH degradation. Likewise to bioslurry reactors, this minimises the environmental risks and no oil recovery is necessary. The process can be applied in situ thus making it economically feasible. Nonetheless, its in situ performance is highly dependent on environment, geology and microbial factors, unlike the ex situ bioreactor treatment which benefits from tighter monitoring and control. Additionally, in situ oil amendment can create higher difficulties in oxygen and water diffusivity. In unamended soil, the effective oxygen distribution for desirable rates of bioremediation extends to a soil depth range of only a few centimetres to approximately 30 cm, although depths of 60 cm and greater have been effectively treated in some cases [96]. To date, only a few successful field-scale applications of bioaugmentation exist. A thorough study of the contaminated site is essential before the implementation of in situ techniques.

4. Integrated oil-non-biological treatment

Fenton treatment is the only non-biological process that has been integrated with vegetable oil treatment. Fenton reaction is an established chemical oxidation technique which is used to remediate PAH-contaminated soils. However, removal efficiencies are always limited by poor availability especially at in aged contaminated soil, except in cases where high concentrations of Fenton reagent are used to directly oxidise the PAHs on the organic soil surfaces without desorption. This can be uneconomical and harmful to the ecosystem of soil matrix. Organic solvents [97] and surfactants [98] have been applied to overcome the availability problem in Fenton treatment. Recently, vegetable oil was proposed as an environmental friendly alternative to conventional solvents and surfactants to promote the extractability of PAHs, and their subsequent removal from soils.

Since HMW PAHs favour the oil phase more compared to LMW PAHs [17,99], higher desorption of HMW PAHs into oil phase can be expected. Although Fenton reaction occurs in the aqueous phase, the Fenton reagents hydrogen peroxide (H_2O_2) and iron (II) ions (Fe^{2+}) are diffusible through the core structure of lipids [100], thereby generating in situ OH• radicals to oxidise the PAHs. Wu et al. [101] showed that free-radical based reactions can be preferentially localised to such vegetable oil structures. In addition, in a study on micellar-exchange dynamics of hydrophobic compounds with the aqueous phase, it was found that both the entrance and exit rates of PAHs were likely to be far higher than biodegradation rates [102]. Hence, the mass transport of PAHs between these micelles and the aqueous phase.

The OH• radicals generated by the Fenton reagent in the aqueous phase can initiate lipid peroxidation on polyunsaturated fatty acids or phospholipids in vegetable oil [103]. This lipid peroxidation is similar to that involved in MnP-mediated lipid peroxidation which occurs in white-rot fungi or litter-decomposing fungi. The radicals produced can oxidise the recalcitrant PAHs. By changing the Fe²⁺:Fe³⁺ ratio in the Fenton process to approach unity, the formation of feryl or perterryl iron (Fe³⁺O²⁻) and mixed metal–O₂–complexes (Fe²⁺–O₂–Fe³⁺) will occur, and further promote the lipid peroxidation [104]. Nevertheless, excess Fe²⁺ oxidation or Fe³⁺ reduction can inhibit lipid peroxidation by changing the Fe²⁺:Fe³⁺ ratio [104].

Bogan et al. [99] are the only ones who studied the application of corn oil and palm kernel oil in Fenton treatment for PAH removal from highly contaminated aged soils with up to 7700 mg/kg concentration. The degradation of PAHs was significantly enhanced by an estimated 15-45% with 5% (per dry wt. of soil) oil addition, and the effect was most significant in the cases of HMW PAHs. In contrast, Fenton treatment alone was only able to remove a few LMW PAHs. The overall PAH removal was low for the integrated treatment, approximately 35–60% for 2–3 h soil/oil contact time and 5-14 days of Fenton treatment. These results might have been due to the extremely high contamination levels in the soil. To enhance Fenton treatment, the oil addition should be enough to facilitate the mass transfer of contaminants into lipid aggregates. Excess lipids, above 5% (per dry wt. of soil), may negatively impact the removal performance as a higher percentage of lipid aggregates would unproductively consume the initial oxidants. The authors also showed that PAH removal using polyunsaturated oil (corn oil) was not greatly different from that of highly saturated oil (palm kernel oil) and monounsaturated oil (olive oil). Here, the effects of competition between lipids and PAHs for the OH• radicals may be offset by the degradation of PAHs by lipid derived radicals. Further details on the optimisation of oil addition are necessary in order to improve the efficiency of PAH removal. Since this is the only reported case on the use of vegetable oil to enhance Fenton oxidation of PAHs in soil, more comprehensive studies are necessary in order to suitably comment on the feasibility of this remedial technique.

5. Vegetable oil regeneration

The regeneration of vegetable oil is vital especially when high amounts of oil are used in the treatment of PAH-contaminated soils. Destruction methods using biodegradation, ozonation and catalytic oxidation are only efficient for oils containing less than 10 mg/l PAHs as these methods are mainly for aqueous, gas or solid phases [105]. Gong et al. [105] and Pannu et al. [29] demonstrated that activated carbon is a powerful adsorbent for all types of PAHs in oil, with 90% and 68.1-93.5% removal efficiencies using batch and column systems respectively. Activated carbon can adsorb both HMW and LMW PAHs equally effectively. The adsorption capacity depends on the internal surface area, the distribution of pore sizes and shapes, and the surface chemistry of the activated carbon [106]. The potential capacity ranges from 20 mg/g [29] to 50 mg/g [105]. The contaminated activated carbon needs to be further recycled, either by conventional thermal treatment or by bioregeneration [107]. Activated carbon is to be destructed via incineration or disposal in the landfill when its efficiency decreases; in which case recycling is no longer a cost-effective option.

The physical separation of PAHs from rapeseed oil using polystyrene column has been demonstrated by Berg and Mattiasson [14]. Vegetable oil was recovered in the first 6 ml of the mobile phase and the first PAHs left the column after 8 ml of eluted chloroform. The results suggested that PAHs were easily removed by this solid phase separation. However, further destruction of the PAHs on solid phase and the costs of polystyrene columns need to be considered in this regeneration method.

6. Environmental impacts of vegetable oil residues in soil

Vegetable oil in soil can be rapidly degraded if optimal microbial conditions are well maintained, since the enzymes required for degradation such as lipases, esterase, cellulases and hemicellulases are common in microorganisms [108]. The degradation rate is dependent on the soil matrices, environmental factors and ecosystem. However, unsaturated oils are subject to chemical oxidation which potentially leads to polymerisation through cross-linking and inhibition of biodegradation. Rapid mineralisation requires an adequate supply of oxygen and nutrients. In systems lacking in oxygen, anaerobic degradation of vegetable oil may result in a higher transient increase of toxicity [109].

Basically, the risk assessment of vegetable oil residues in soil is based on the level of contamination: (a) low (10 s of mg/kg): biodegradation less likely to be limited by nitrogen and phosphorus, natural attenuation may be feasible, (b) medium (1–80 g/kg): biodegradation likely to be limited by nitrogen and phosphorus, may or may not need nutrient treatment, (c) high (>80 g/kg): the oil level may be inhibitory or toxic to biomass [110].

Among the remediation treatments, the sole oil extraction system resulted in the highest oil residues retained in soil, approximately 4–5% of the quantity used [29] and due to the high ratio of oil addition (up to 4:1 oil: soil ratio), the treated soil contained 5-10% (50-100 g/kg) of oil. Gong et al. [111] stated that soil respiration was reactivated after soil microorganisms acclimatised to the residual oil. With proper nutrient amendment and sufficient air exchange, soil respiration took as long as 170 days and with longer incubation, it was expected that more vegetable oil could be degraded. Scherr et al. [39] reported that residues of 1% (w/dry wt.) and 5% (w/dry wt.) canola oil addition to the contaminated soil were 50–3500 mg/kg after 98 and 105 days treatment in the bioslurry system. In a field study, Haigh [112] reported that although the vegetable oil $(1 l/m^2)$ biodegraded rapidly, it took more than 1 year for the extractable residues to decrease to levels comparable to the naturally occurring lipids (<0.3 mg/g) present in soil.

In soil toxicity tests, vegetable oil residues as low as 1%(10 g/kg)were shown to have inhibitory effects on plant growth [113] with the degree of inhibition varying with plant type. The direct effects of vegetable oil residues in soil on plant growth include: (a) possible growth inhibition by root suffocation or by oxygen depletion of the soil by the oil biodegradation process, (b) possible poor growth due to reduced water uptake by the plants and/or immobilisation of nitrogen and phosphorus in the soil [112]. It has been suggested that the reactive oxygen species including superoxide, hydrogen peroxide, and hydroxyl free radicals are produced in excess under such environmental stress, causing lipid peroxidation and damaged plant cells and seriously disrupting normal metabolism [114]. Both the accumulation of metabolites from the oil degradation and nutrient amendment during treatment can alter soil pH and affect plant growth. On the other hand, one study demonstrated that in certain plant species, proper combination of oil residues concentration (1%) and nutrient amendment could counteract the adverse effects of pH variation and stimulate oil degradation simultaneously [113]. Scherr et al. [39] reported that the oil residues within the range of 50–3500 mg/kg in soil did not change the pH of the bioslurry system. This indicated that there was sufficient capacity in the soil system to buffer the possible acidic oil metabolites produced.

Germination of some plants would also be inhibited if their propagules are relatively small in size and are completely covered by oil [115]. Some researchers showed that vegetable oil retention can aggravate the high salinity problem and reduce salt-stress tolerance of seedlings [116], and indirectly affect the germination of plant seeds [117]. However, the effects of vegetable oils on growth rates of various crops vary from small reduction to complete inhibition [112].

Soil texture may also affect the movement and the retention of oil in soil and mixing pattern with water [118]. Sandy soil allows deeper and faster penetration of the oil which leads to damages at the root zone; however, due to large pore spaces available for the growth of the microbes, the microbial breakdown of the oil is relatively fast. Dinel et al. [119] claimed that the direct addition of lipid compounds to the soil encouraged the formation of polycationic bridges that bind the lipids to soil particles that enhance soil aggregation. Sonnleitner et al. [120], meanwhile, reported that less than 0.5% of lipid was sufficient for the formation of unwettable aggregates in sandy soils. Soil permeability was reduced in these cases hence affecting its future use in agriculture.

The toxicity of the oil residues in soil can be expected to decrease over time as the oil degrades [109], although it is not related to its persistency in the soil [112]. This means that it is important to monitor both biodegradation and toxicity of the oil in its application in soil remediation.

7. Comparison with other PAH soil remediation techniques

Table 2 presents the comparison of PAH soil remediation techniques utilising vegetable oil with other commonly employed remediation techniques. Physical extraction at ambient conditions typically involves mixtures of water either with chemical solvents, surfactants or cyclodextrins. Although the extraction or washing process is simple, but post-treatment of extraction fluids requires either distillation at high temperatures or other phase separation followed by destructive treatment of PAHs. Unlike the typical solvents used, vegetable oil is water immiscible which allows for easier separation if used in an oil/water/soil extraction system. Likewise to cyclodextrins, vegetable oil is non-toxic and biodegradable as compared to chemical solvents. However, in contrast to cyclodextrins, vegetable oil is less costly. The optimised extraction efficiency of vegetable oil (>90%) [25] is comparable to conventional co-solvent (95%)[121] and exceeds that of cyclodextrins (31-43%)[122]. Using surfactant, on the other hand, results in inconsistent removal efficiencies. It has been recently postulated that it is possible for surfactants to be adsorbed by the soil matrix which immobilise the PAHs that partitioned onto them [123].

Extraction using vegetable oil has been demonstrated to have comparable removal efficiency as supercritical fluid extraction (88–90%) [124]. However, the obtainable extraction efficiency with vegetable oil is slightly less when compared to subcritical fluid extraction and in situ thermal desorption techniques (>99%) [125,126]. However, the use of subcritical and supercritical fluids requires the use of high pressure and/or temperature equipment which entails greater costs. In situ thermal desorption requires no excavation but its efficiency is subjected to the heat transfer resistances due to in situ soil heterogeneity and consideration needs to be given to the treatment for the gases produced.

Bioremediation offers the advantage over physical extraction as it is a destructive technique that requires no secondary treatment. However, the duration of treatment is long and the obtainable removal efficiency tends to be low. The addition of chemical solvent [127] can enhance biodegradation rate but this is more toxic than vegetable oil [127] whereas surfactants addition may result in positive, negative, or no discernible effects on the degradation of PAHs [128].

Unlike bioremediation, the chemical oxidation is a fast destructive remediation technique. Of three typically used oxidants, ozone, potassium permanganate (KMnO₄) and Fenton's reagent, ozone is more effective for LMW PAHs [129], KMnO₄ selectively degrades PAHs depending on the aromatic structures [130] whereas Fenton's reagent is relatively less selective [129]. Nonetheless, the efficiency of these chemical oxidations decreases when applied to aged soil especially for HMW PAHs. Ethanol addition has been shown to improve the efficiency of Fenton treatment, but the high dosage involved (>30%) entails greater environmental risks [131]. Likewise to bioremediation, surfactant addition results in positive, negative, or no discernible effects on Fenton oxidation [132]. Both cyclodextrins [133] and vegetable oil additions [99] are able to enhance Fenton oxidation especially for HMW PAHs but the former is more costly. Other integrated technologies such as biological-chemical and physical-chemical-biological treatments which combine separation and destruction of PAHs offer better removal efficiencies

Table 2

Comparison of PAH soil remediation techniques utilising vegetable oil with other remediation techniques.

Treatment technique	Advantages	Disadvantages	Reference					
Physical extraction								
Solvent extraction (chemical solvent, surfactant or cyclodextrins)	Ambient conditions, portable	Extraction efficiency dependent on type of solvent, difficult solute separation, further treatment of extracts, residual pollution	[121–123]					
Supercritical or subcritical fluid extraction	Rapid PAH removal, high selectivity for PAHs versus bulk organic matter, high extraction efficiency, no secondary pollution, soil structure is left intact	Post-treatment of extracts, high-pressure equipment, soil excavation required	[124,125]					
In situ thermal desorption	No excavation required, applicable to heterogeneous soil, broad applicability	Further treatment of extracts, high temperature, slow process, extraction efficiency dependent on in situ soil conditions	[126]					
Vegetable oil extraction	High extraction efficiency, environmentally friendly, ambient conditions, portable	Further treatment of extracts, residual pollution	[25,29]					
Bioremediation		•						
Conventional bioremediation	No second hand pollution, broad land applications, ambient conditions	Low destruction efficiency, very slow process	[134]					
Vegetable oil-biological treatment	Ambient conditions, environmentally friendly, moderate to high efficiency.	Removal rate dependent on the technique used	[14,48,78,92]					
Chemical remediation								
Ozonation	Rapid removal, no secondary pollution, insensitive to external disturbance	Efficiency decreases for HMW aged PAHs, high equipment cost	[129]					
KMnO ₄ oxidation	Rapid removal, flexible, portable, insensitive to external disturbance	Selective destruction	[130]					
Vegetable oil-Fenton treatment	Rapid removal of full range of PAHs, flexible, portable, insensitive to external disturbance	Unproductive consumption of chemicals by oil	[99]					

than techniques utilising vegetable oils but these inherently involve higher costs [7].

8. Conclusions

The use of vegetable oil as extraction solvent for soil washing and as soil amendment has been shown through several studies to be a viable approach for the treatment of PAH-contaminated soils. In this context, vegetable oil usage is targeted towards the removal of HMW PAHs, which has long been the major challenge in other conventional remediation methods. Nevertheless, the demonstrated technologies have not proceeded beyond bench-scale testing and there is scope for further exploration within this interesting development in PAH soil remediation.

For physical extraction with oil, the PAH removal efficiencies have been shown to be comparable to common solvents and surfactants used in soil washing. Here, vegetable oil can be considered to be more superior in the sense that it is biodegradable and less toxic than typical solvents used. However, due to the high quantity of oil used especially for highly contaminated soils, the negative impacts on the environment are a concern. Before this technology can be applied on a full-scale, site study should be carried out to assess contamination factors such as type of PAHs, level of contamination, ageing period and soil properties. Both the oil usage in the treatment and oil residues in the treated soil should be kept to the minimum possible level to avoid subsequent pollution. Thorough assessment of transportation and treatment of soil, costs, ecological risks, and treatment/disposal of contaminated oils is necessary prior to field implementation.

For integrated oil-biological soil treatments, various techniques have been reported in the specialised literature. Since biological processes are complicated by many microbial and environmental factors, further intensive and thorough studies are necessary to better understand the processes behind the effects of oil inclusion and to optimise the methodologies. In this respect, the areas requiring more focus include the verification of complete PAH mineralisation, the transformation of metabolites and their environmental impacts, the metabolic capacity for PAH degradation, the shift in microbial community under xenobiotic conditions and the resultant effects on PAH degradation. Finally, integrated oil-Fenton soil treatment is a new concept which offers the potential for further exploration and development, especially for the removal of recalcitrant HMW PAHs.

References

- R.A. Kanaly, H. Shigeaki, Biodegradation of high-molecular-weight polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons by bacteria, J. Bacteriol. 182 (8) (2000) 2059–2067.
- [2] M. Mumtaz, J. George, Toxicological Profile for Polycyclic Aromatic Hydrocarbons, U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Public Health Service, Agency for Toxic Substances and Disease Registry, Federal Register, August 1995.
- [3] United States Environmental Protection Agency, Polycyclic Aromatic Hydrocarbons (PAHs), http://www.epa.gov/osw/hazard/wastemin/priority.htm, January 2008.
- [4] S. Vessigaud, C. Perrin-Ganier, L. Belkessam, S. Denys, M. Schiayon, Direct link between fluoranthene biodegradation and the mobility and sequestration of its residues during aging, J. Environ. Qual. 36 (2007) 1412–1419.
- [5] F. Javier Rivas, Polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons sorbed on soils: a short review of chemical oxidation based treatments, J. Hazard. Mater. B138 (2006) 234–251.
- [6] S.K. Samanta, O.V. Singh, R.K. Jain, Polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons: environmental pollution and bioremediation, Trends Biotechnol. 20 (6) (2002) 243–248.
- [7] S. Gan, E.V. Lau, H.K. Ng, Remediation of soils contaminated with polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (PAHs), J. Hazard. Mater. (2009), doi:10.1016/j.jhazmat.2009.07.118.
- [8] Q. Chaudry, M. Blom-Zandstra, S. Gupta, E.J. Joner, Utilising the synergy between plants and rhizosphere microorganisms to enhance breakdown of organic pollutants in the environment, Environ. Sci. Pollut. Res. 12 (1) (2005) 34–48.
- [9] L.A. Newman, C.M. Reynolds, Photodegradation of organic compounds, Curr. Opin. Biotechnol. 15 (2004) 225–230.
- [10] R. Boulding, EPA Environmental Assessment Source Book, United States Environmental Protection Agency, 1996.
- [11] M.L. Brusseau, A.L. Wood, P.S.C. Rao, Influence of organic cosolvents on the sorption kinetics of hydrophobic organic chemicals, Environ. Sci. Technol. 25 (5) (1991) 903–910.
- [12] R. Pinal, P.S.C. Rao, L.S. Lee, P.V. Cline, S.H. Yakowsy, Cosolvency of partially miscible organic solvents on the solubility of hydrophobic organic chemicals, Environ. Sci. Technol. 24 (1990) 639–647.
- [13] P.S.C. Rao, L.S. Lee, R. Pinal, Cosolvency and sorption of hydrophobic organic chemicals, Environ. Sci. Technol. 24 (1990) 647–654.
- [14] J.H. Berg Schuur, B. Mattiasson, Separation of coal-tar constituents from soil particles in a two-liquid-phase slurry system, Environ. Technol. 24 (2003) 755–765.
- [15] R. Przybylski, Canola Oil: Physical and Chemical Properties, http://www.canola-council.org/pubs/physprop.htm, January 2001.
- [16] C.T. Chiou, Partition coefficients of organic compounds in lipid-water systems and correlations with fish bioconcentration factors, Environ. Sci. Technol. 19 (1985) 57–62.

- [17] Part II: Equilibrium partitioning between gaseous, liquid and solid phases: Sorption II: Partitioning of living media – bioaccumulation and baseline toxicity, in: R.P. Schwarzenbach, P.M. Gschwend (Eds.), Imboden, Environmental Organic Chemistry, John Wiley & Sons, Hoboken, USA, 2002, pp. 331–386.
- [18] J. Sikkema, J.A.M. de Bont, B. Poolman, Mechanisms of membrane toxicity of hydrocarbons, Microbiol. Rev. 59 (1995) 201–222.
- [19] M.G. Zemanek, S.J.T. Pollard, S.L. Kenefick, S.E. Hrudey, Multi-phase partitioning and co-solvent effects for polynuclear aromatic hydrocarbons (PAH) in authentic petroleum- and creosote-contaminated soils, Environ. Poll. 98 (1997) 239–252.
- [20] R. Villemur, E. De'ziel, A. Benachenhou, J. Marcoux, E. Gauthier, F. Le'pine, B. Rejean, C. Yves, Two-liquid-phase slurry bioreactors to enhance the degradation of high-molecular-weight polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons in soil, Biotechnol. Prog. 16 (2000) 966–972.
- [21] H.B. Klevens, Solubilization of polycyclic hydrocarbons, J. Phys. Colloid Chem. 54 (1950) 283–298.
- [22] A. Tiehm, Degradation of polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons in the presence of synthetic surfactants, Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 60 (1994) 258–263.
- [23] S.J. Grimberg, J. Nagel, M.D. Aitken, Kinetics of phenanthrene dissolution into water in the presence of nonionic surfactants, Environ. Sci. Technol. 29 (1995) 1480–1487.
- [24] Z. Gong, K. Alef, B.M. Wilke, P. Li, Dissolution and removal of PAHs from a contaminated soil using sunflower oil, Chemosphere 58 (2005) 291–298.
- [25] Z. Gong, B.M. Wilke, K. Alef, P. Li, Q. Zhou, Removal of polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons from manufactured gas plant-contaminated soils using sunflower oil: laboratory column experiments, Chemosphere 62 (2006) 780–787.
- [26] Z. Gong, B.M. Wilke, K. Alef, P. Li, Influence of soil moisture on sunflower oil extraction of polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons from a manufactured gas plant soil, Sci. Total Environ. 343 (2005) 51–59.
- [27] P.J. Wooglar, K.C. Jones, Studies on the dissolution of polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons from contaminated materials using a novel dialysis tubing experimental method, Environ. Sci. Technol. 33 (1999) 2118–2126.
- [28] M. Alexander, How toxic are toxic chemicals in soil? Environ. Sci. Technol. 29 (1995) 2713–2717.
- [29] J.K. Pannu, A. Singh, O.P. Ward, Vegetable oil as a contaminated soil remediation amendment: application of peanut oil for extraction of polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons from soil, Process Biochem. 39 (2004) 1211–1216.
- [30] A. Khodadoust, M. Suidan, C. Acheson, R. Brenner, Solvent extraction of pentachlorophenol from contaminated soils using water ethanol mixtures, Chemosphere 38 (1999) 2681–2693.
- [31] A. Wall, G. Stratton, Effects of moisture content on the extractability of pentachlorophenol from soil, Chemosphere 23 (1991) 881–888.
- [32] Y. Shu, T. Lai, Effect of moisture on the extraction efficiency of polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons from soils under atmospheric pressure by focused microwave-assisted extraction, J. Chromatogr. A 927 (2001) 131–141.
- [33] K.M. Evans, R.A. Gill, P.W.J. Robotham, PAH and organic content of sediment particle size fractions, Water Air Soil Pollut. 51 (1990) 13–31.
- [34] P. Isosaari, T. Tuhkanen, T. Vartiainen, Use of olive oil for soil extraction and ultraviolet degradation of polychlorinated dibenzo-p-dioxins and dibenzofurans, Environ. Sci. Technol. 35 (2001) 1259–1265.
- [35] C.E. Cerniglia, Biodegradation of polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons, Biodegradation 3 (1992) 351–358.
- [36] K.S. Park, R.C. Sims, R.R. Dupont, W.J. Doucette, J.E. Matthews, Fate of PAH compounds in two soil types: influence of volatilization, abiotic loss and biological activity, Environ. Toxicol. Chem. 9 (1990) 187–195.
- [37] J.W. Moore, S. Ramamoorthy, Aromatic hydrocarbons-polycyclics, in: J.W. Moore, S. Ramamoorthy (Eds.), Organic Chemicals in Natural Waters: Applied Monitoring and Impact Assessment, Springer-Verlag, New York Inc., NY, 1984, pp. 67–87.
- [38] K.L. Shuttleworth, C.E. Cerniglia, Environmental aspects of PAH biodegradation, Appl. Biochem. Biotechnol. 54 (1995) 291-301.
- [39] K.E. Scherr, M. Hasinger, P. Mayer, A.P. Loibner, Effect of vegetable oil addition on bioaccessibility and biodegradation of polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons in historically contaminated soils, J. Chem. Technol. Biotechnol., http://www.intercience.wiley.com/jctb, October 2009.
- [40] E. Rosenberg, R. Legmann, A. Kushmaro, R. Taube, E. Adler, E.Z. Zon, Petroleum bioremediation – a multiphase problem, Biodegradation 3 (1992) 337–350.
- [41] R.S. Wodzinski, J.E. Coyle, Physical state of phenanthrene for untilization by bacteria, Appl. Microbiol. 27 (1974) 1081–1084.
- [42] G. Stucki, M. Alexander, Role of dissolution rate and solubility in biodegradation of aromatic compounds, Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 53 (1987) 292–297.
- [43] D. Standing, K. Killham, The soil environment, in: J.D. Van Elsas, J.K. Jansson, J.T. Trevors (Eds.), Modern Soil Microbiol, 2nd Ed., CRC Press, Boca Raton, Florida, USA, 1997, pp. 1–22.
- [44] K.G. Robinson, W.S. Farmer, J.T. Novak, Availability of sorbed toluene in soils for biodegradation by acclimated bacteria, Water Res. 24 (1990) 345–350.
- [45] H. Yi, D.E. Crowley, Biostimulation of PAH degradation with plants containing high concentrations of linoleic acid, Environ. Sci. Technol. 41 (2007) 4382–4388.
- [46] N.O.V. Sonntag, Surfactants in herbicide dispersions, Surfact. Sci. Ser. 28 (1998) 237–261.
- [47] L.Y. Wick, P. Wattiau, H. Harms, Influence of the growth substrate on the mycolic acid composition of Mycobacteria, Environ. Microbiol. 4 (2002) 612–616.

- [48] M. Bouchez-Naitali, H. Rakatozafy, R. Marchal, J.Y. Leveau, J.P. Vandecasteele, Diversity of bacterial strains degrading hexadecane in relation to the mode of substrate uptake, J. Appl. Microbiol. 86 (1999) 421–428.
- [49] J.D. Van Hamme, O.P. Ward, Physical and metabolic interactions of *Pseudomonas sp.* Strain JA5-B45 and *Rhodococcus sp.* Strain F9-D79 during growth on crude oil and effect of a chemical surfactant on them, Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 67 (2001) 4874–4879.
- [50] L. Bastiaens, D. Springael, P. Wattiau, H. Harms, R. deWachter, H. Verachtert, L. Diels, Isolation of adherent polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbon (PAH)-degrading bacteria using PAH-sorbing carriers, Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 66 (2000) 1834–1843.
- [51] R.M. Miller, R. Bartha, Evidence from liposome encapsulation for transportlimited microbial metabolism of solid alkanes, Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 55 (1989) 269–274.
- [52] D. Dean-Ross, C.E. Cerniglia, Degradation of pyrene by Mycobacterium flavescens, Appl Microbiol. Biot. 46 (1996) 307–312.
- [53] M.A. Heitkamp, C.E. Cerniglia, Mineralisation of polyaromatic hydrocarbons by a bacterium isolated from sediment below an oil-field, Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 54 (1988) 1612–1614.
- [54] I.Y. Jimenez, R. Bartha, Solvent-augmented mineralization of pyrene by a Mycobacterium sp., Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 62 (7) (1996) 2311–2316.
- [55] A.R. Johnsen, Y.W. Lukas, H. Harms, Principles of microbial PAH-degradation in soil, Environ. Pollut. 133 (2005) 71–84.
- [56] R. Singh, D. Paul, R.K. Jain, Biofilms: Implications in bioremediation, Trends Microbiol. 14 (2006) 389–397.
- [57] J.D. Desai, I.M. Banat, Microbial production of surfactants and their commercial potential, Microbiol. Mol. Biol. Rev. 61 (1997) 47-64.
- [58] L. Pizzul, Md.P. Castillo, J. Stenstrom, Effect of rapeseed oil on the degradation of polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons in soil by *Rhodococcus wraticlaviensis*, Int. Biodeter. Biodegrad. 59 (2007) 111–118.
- [59] S. Boonchan, M. Britz, G. Stanley, Degradation and mineralization of high-molecular-weight polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons by defined fungalbacterial cocultures, Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 66 (2000) 1007–1019.
- [60] S. Laha, Z.B. Liu, D.A. Edwards, R.G. Luthy, Surfactant solubilization of phenanthrene in soil-aqueous systems and its effects on bioremediation, Aquat. Chem. 244 (1995) 339–361.
- [61] M. Abouseoud, R. Maahi, A. Amrane, Biosurfactant production from olive oil by *Pseudomonas fluorescens*, in: A. Mendez-Vilas (Ed.), Communicating current research and educational topics and trends in applied microbiology, ©FORMATEX, 2007, pp. 340–347.
- [62] L. Pizzul, Md.P. Castillo, J. Stenstrom, Characterization of selected actinomycetes degrading polyaromatic hydrocarbons in liquid culture and spike soil, World J. Microbiol. Biotechnol. 22 (2006) 745–752.
- [63] M.H. Vance-Harrop, N.B. de Gusmao, G.M. de Campos-Takaki, New bioemulsifiers produced by *Candida lipolytica* using D-glucose and babassu oil as carbon sources, Braz. J. Microbiol. 34 (2003) 120–123.
- [64] L. Sim, O. Ward, Z.-Y. Li, Production and characterization of a biosurfactant isolated from *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* UW-1, J. Ind. Microbiol. Biotechnol. 19 (1997) 232–238.
- [65] J. Thaniyavarn, A. Chongchin, N. Wanitsuksombut, S. Thaniyavarn, P. Pinphanichakarn, N. Leepipatpiboon, M. Morikawa, S. Kanaya, Biosurfactant production by *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* A41 using palm oil as carbon source, J. Gen. Appl. Microbiol. 52 (2006) 215–222.
- [66] C. Ferraz, A.A. Araujo, G.M. Tastore, The influence of vegetable oils on biosurfactant production by *Serratia marcescens*, Appl. Biochem. Biotechnol. 98 (2002) 841–847.
- [67] K.S.M. Rahman, G. Street, R. Lord, G. Kane, T.J. Rahman, R. Marchant, I.M. Banat, Bioremediation of petroleum sludge using bacterial consortium with biosurfactant, in: S.N. Singh, R.D. Tripathi (Eds.), Environmental Bioremediation Technologies, Springer Publication, 2006, pp. 391–408.
- [68] K. Iwahori, T. tokutomi, N. Miyata, M. Fujita, Formation of stable foam by the cells and culture supernatant of *Gordonia (Nocardia) amarae*, J. Biosci. Bioeng. 92 (2001) 77–79.
- [69] S. Lang, D. Wulbrandt, Rhamnose lipids-biosynthesis: microbial production and application potential, Appl. Microbiol. Biotechnol. 51 (1999) 22–32.
- [70] L. Deschênes, P. Lafrance, J.P. Villeneuve, R. Samson, The impact of a biological and chemical anionic surfactants on the biodegradation and solubilization of PAHs in a creosote contaminated soil, in: Fourth Annual Symposium on Groundwater and Soil Remediation, Calgary, Alberta, September 21–23, 1994.
- [71] T.R. Neu, Significance of bacterial surface-active compounds in interaction of bacteria with interfaces, Microbiol. Rev. 60 (1996) 151–166.
- [72] A.R. Johnsen, U. Karison, Evaluation of bacterial strategies to promote the bioavailability of polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (PAHs), Appl. Microbiol. Biot. 63 (2004) 452–459.
- [73] P. Wattiau, Microbial aspects in bioremediation of soils polluted by polyaromatic hydrocarbons, in: S.N. Agathos, W. Reineke (Eds.), Focus on Biotechnology. Biotechnology for the Environment: Strategy and Fundamentals, 3A, Kluwer Academic Publishers, Dordrecht, 2002, pp. 69–89.
- [74] S. Hwang, J.T. Cutright, Preliminary exploration of the relationships between soil characteristics and PAH desorption and biodegradation, Environ. Int. 29 (2003) 887–894.
- [75] D. Trzesicka-Mlynarz, O.P. Ward, Degradation of polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (PAHs) by a mixed culture and its component pure cultures, obtained from PAH contaminated soil, Can. J. Microbiol. 41 (1995) 470–476.

- [76] M. Kastner, M. Breuer-Jammali, B. Mahro, Enumeration and characterization of the soil microflora from hydrocarbon-contaminated soil sites able to mineralize polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (PAH), Appl. Microbiol. Biotechnol. 41 (1994) 267–273.
- [77] J.K. Pannu, A. Singh, O.P. Ward, Influence of peanut oil on microbial degradation of polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons, Can. J. Microbiol. 49 (2003) 508–513.
- [78] V. Leonardi, M.A. Giubilei, E. Federici, R. Spaccapelo, V. Sasek, C. Novothny, M. Petruccioli, A. D'Annibale, Mobilizing agents enhance fungal degradation of polycyclic hydrocarbons and affect diversity of indigenous bacteria in soil, Biotechnol. Bioeng. 101 (2008) 273–285.
- [79] K.S. Wardle, L.C. Schisler, The effects of various lipids on growth of Mycelium of Agaricus bisporus, Micologia 61 (1969) 305–314.
- [80] C. Hsieh, H.L. Wang, C.C. Chen, T.H. Hsu, M.H. Tseng, Effect of plant oil and surfactant on the production of mycelia biomass and polysaccharides in submerged culture of *Grifola frondosa*, Biochem. Eng. J. 38 (2008) 198–205.
- [81] R. Peltola, Bioavailability aspects of hydrophobic contaminant degradation in soils, in: Academic Dissertation in Microbiology, Department of Ecology and Environmental Sciences, Faculty of Biosciences, University of Helsinki, 2003, pp. 1–83.
- [82] T. Watanabe, S. Katayama, M. Enoki, Y. Honda, M. Kuwahara, Formation of acyl radical in lipid peroxidation of linoleic acid by manganese-dependent peroxidase from *Ceriporiopsis subvermispora* and *Bjerkandera adusta*, Eur. J. Biochem. 267 (2000) 4222–4231.
- [83] N.J. Fox, G.W. Stachowiak, Vegetable oil based lubricants a review of oxidation, Tribol. Int. 40 (2007) 1035–1046.
- [84] K.T. Steffen, A. Hatakka, M. Horfichter, Degradation of benzo[a]pyrene by the litter-decomposing basidomycete *Stropharia coconilla*: role of manganese peroxidase, Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 69 (7) (2003) 3957–3964.
- [85] B.W. Bogan, R.T. Lamar, One-electron oxidation in the degradation of creosote polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbon by *Phanerochaete chrysosporium*, Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 61 (9) (1995) 2631–2635.
- [86] I.J. Kraus, I.Z. Munir, J.P. McEldoon, D.S. Clark, J.S. Dordick, Oxidation of polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbon catalysed by soybean peroxidase, Appl. Biochem. Biotechnol. 80 (1999) 221–230.
- [87] L. Bezalel, Y. Hadar, C.E. Cerniglia, Enzymatic mechanism involved in phenanthrene degradation by the white rot fungus *Pleurotus ostreatus*, Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 62 (1997) 2495–2501.
- [88] R.F.H. Dekker, A.M. Barbosa, E.C. Giese, S.D.S. Godoy, L.G. Covizzi, Influence of nutrients on enhancing laccase production by *Botryosphaeria rhodina* MAMB-05, Int. Microbiol. 10 (2007) 177–185.
- [89] C. Johannes, A. Majcherczyk, Natural mediators in the oxidation of polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons by Laccase Mediator system, Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 66 (2) (2000) 524–528.
- [90] R.A. Efymson, M. Alexander, Biodegradation by an Arthrobacter species of hydrocarbons partitioned into an organic solvent, Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 57 (1991) 1441–1447.
- [91] B.W. Bogan, R.T. Lamar, Surfactant enhancement of white-rot fungal PAH soil remediation, in: A. Leeson, B.C. Alleman (Eds.), Bioremediation Technologies for Polycyclic Aromatic Hydrocarbon compounds, Battelle Press, Columbus, 1999.
- [92] L. Pizzul, Md.P. Castillo, J. Stenstrom, Degradation of polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons in soil by a two-step sequential treatment, Biodegradation 18 (2007) 607–616.
- [93] K. Scherr, M. Hasinger, F. Castaldini, A.P. Loibner, Polycyclic acromatic hydrocarbon degradation: increasing bioavailability by addition of canola oil, in: 4th European Bioremediation Conference, 2008.
- [94] R. Baipai, J. Kim, M. Qasin, Bioremediation, in: D.R. Heldman, C.I. Morau (Eds.), Encyclopedia of Agricultural, Food, and Biological Engineering, Marcel Dekker, New York, 2003, pp. 108–118.
- [95] J.G. Mueller, C.E. Cerniglia, P.H. Pritchard, Bioremediation of environments contaminated by polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons, in: R.L. Crawford, L.D. Crawford (Eds.), Bioremediation: Principles and Applications, Cambridge University Press, 1996, pp. 125–194.
- [96] M. Vidali, Bioremediation: an overview, Pure Appl. Chem. 73 (7) (2001) 1163-1172.
- [97] B.D. Lee, M. Hosomi, A hybrid Fenton oxidation-microbial treatment for soil highly contaminated with Benz(a)anthracene, Chemosphere 43 (8) (2001) 1127–1132.
- [98] D.A. Martens, W.T. Frankenberg Jr., Enhanced degradation of polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons in soil treated with an advanced oxidative process-Fenton's reagent, J. Soil Contam. 4 (1995) 1–16.
- [99] B.W. Bogan, V. Trbovic, J.R. Paterek, Inclusion of vegetable oils in Fenton's chemistry for remediation of PAH-contaminated soils, Chemosphere 50 (2003) 15–21.
- [100] K.M. Schaich, D.C. Borg, Fenton reactions in lipid phases, Lipids 23 (1988) 570–579.
- [101] J. Wu, J.H. Harwell, E.A. O'Rear, Two-dimensional reaction solvents: surfactant bilayers in the formation of ultrathin films, Langmuir 3 (1987) 531–537.
- [102] S. Chen, W.P. Inskeep, S.A. Williams, P.R. Callins, Fluorescence lifetime measurements of fluoranthene. 1-naphthol, and napropamide in the presence of dissolved humic acid, Environ. Sci. Technol. (1994) 281582–281588.
- [103] H. Siegel, Metal lons in Biological Systems, vol. 36: Interrelations Between Radicals and Metal lons in Life Processes, 1999, pp. 255–258.
- [104] G. Minotti, S.D. Aust, Redox cycling of iron and lipid peroxidation, Lipids 27 (1992) 219-226.

- [105] Z. Gong, B.M. Wilke, K. Alef, P. Li, Activated carbon adsorption of PAHs from vegetable oil used in soil remediation, J. Hazard. Mater. 143 (2007) 372–378.
- [106] F. Guzel, The effect of surface acidity upon the adsorption capacities of activated carbons, Sep. Sci. Technol. 31 (1996) 283–290.
- [107] R.J.D. Jonge, A.M. Breure, J.G. Van Andel, Bioregeneration of powdered activated carbon (PAC) loaded with aromatic compounds, Water Res. 30 (1996) 875–882.
- [108] X.W. Wang, C.L. Jiang, Paper making Part 1: Surface and colloid chemistry of pulping processes, in: P. Somasundaran, A.T. Hubbard (Eds.), Encyclopedia of Surface and Colloid Science, 2nd ed., Taylor, Francis Group, 2006, pp. 4415–4434.
- [109] Z. Li, K. Lee, S.E. Cobanli, Assessment of sediment toxicity during anaerobic biodegradation of vegetable oil using *Microtox* and *Hyallella azteca* bioassays, Environ. Toxicol. 22 (2007) 1–8.
- [110] A.D. Venosa, Bioremediation RRT Meeting, Tunica, MS, U.S. EPA, Office of Research & Development, National Risk Management Research Laboratory, Cincinnati, OH 45268, 2008.
- [111] Z. Gong, B.M. Wilke, K. Alef, P. Li, Assessment of microbial respiratory activity of a manufactured gas plant soil after remediation using sunflower oil, J. Hazard. Mater. 124 (2005) 217–223.
- [112] S.D. Haigh, Fate and effects of synthetic lubricants in soil: biodegradation and effect on crops in field study, Sci. Total Environ. 168 (1995) 71–83.
- [113] Z. Gong, P. Li, B.M. Wilke, K. Alef, Effects of vegetable oil residue after soil extraction on physical-chemical properties of sandy soil and plant growth, J. Environ. Sci. 20 (2008) 1458–1462.
- [114] A.K. Parida, A.B. Das, P. Mohanty, Defense potentials to NaCl in a mangrove, Bruguiera parviflora: differential changes of isoforms of some antioxidative enzymes, J. Plant Physiol. 161 (2004) 531–542.
- [115] R.L. Raymond, J.O. Hudson, V.W. Jamison, Oil degradation in soil, Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 31 (1976) 522–535.
- [116] D.S. Page, E.S. Giliffan, J.C. Foster, J.R. Hotham, L. Gonzalex, Mangrove leaf tissue sodium and potassium ion concentration as sublethal indicators of oil stress in mangrove trees, in: Proceedings of the 1985 Oil Spill Conference, Washington, DC, USA, American Petroleum Institute, 1985, pp. 391–393.
- [117] T. Youssef, Evidence for reduced post-spill recovery by the halophyte Sporobolus iocladus (Nees ex Trin) Nees in oil-contaminated sediments, Mar. Pollut. Bull. 44 (2002) 334–339.
- [118] B. Suprayogi, F. Murray, A field experiment of the physical and chemical effects of two oils on mangroves, Environ. Exp. Bot. 42 (1999) 221–229.
- [119] H. Dinel, M. Schnitzer, G.R. Mehuys, Soil lipids: origin, nature, contents, decomposition and effect on soil physical properties, in: J.M. Bollag, G. Stotzky (Eds.), Soil Biochemistry, vol. 6, Marcel Dekker, New York, 1990, pp. 397–427.
- [120] R. Sonnleitner, E. Lorbeer, F. Schninner, Effects of straw, vegetable oil and whey on physical and microbiological properties of a chernozem, Appl. Soil Ecol. 22 (2003) 195–204.
- [121] A. Silva, C. Delerue-Matos, A. Fiuza, Use of solvent extraction to remediate soils contaminated with hydrocarbons, J. Hazard. Mater. B124 (2005) 224–229.
- [122] C. Viglianti, K. Hanna, C. Brauer, P. Germain, Removal of polyaromatic hydrocarbons from aged-contaminated soil using cyclodextrins: experimental study, Environ. Pollut. 140 (2006) 427–435.
- [123] W. Zhou, L. Zhu, Efficiency of surfactant-enhanced desorption for contaminated soils depending on the component characteristics of soil-surfactant-PAHs system, Environ. Pollut. 147 (2007) 66–73.
- [124] V. Librando, O. Hutzinger, G. Tringali, M. Aresta, Supercritical fluid extraction of polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons from marine sediments and soil samples, Chemosphere 54 (2004) 1189–1197.
- [125] A.J.M. Lagadec, D.J. Miller, A.V. Lilke, S.B. Hawthorne, Pilot-scale subcritical water remediation of polyaromatic hydrocarbon- and pesticidecontaminated soil, Environ. Sci. Technol. 34 (2000) 1542–1548.
- [126] T.C. Harmon, G.A. Burks, A.C. Aycaguer, J. Jackson, Thermally enhanced vapour extraction for removing PAHs from lampblack-contaminated soil, J. Environ. Eng. 127 (11) (2001) 986–993.
- [127] P.H. Lee, S.K. Ong, J. Golchin, g.L. Nelson, Use of solvents to enhance PAH biodegradation of coal tar-contaminated soils, Water Res. 35 (16) (2001) 3941–3949.
- [128] R. Doong, W. Lei, Solubilization and mineralisation of PAH by *Pseudomonas putida* in the presence of surfactant, J. Hazard. Mater. B96 (2003) 15–27.
- [129] S. Josson, Y. Persson, S. Frankki, S. Lundstedt, B.V. Bavel, P. Haglund, M. Tysklind, Comparison of Fenton 's reagent and ozone oxidation of polyaromatic hydrocarbons in aged contaminated soils, J. Soils Sediments 6(4)(2006) 208–214.
- [130] G.S. Brown, L.L. Barton, B.M. Thomson, Permanganate oxidation of sorbed polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons, Waste Manage. 23 (2003) 737–740.
- [131] S. Lundstedt, Y. Persson, L. Oberg, Transformation of PAHs during ethanol-Fenton treatment of an aged gasworks' soil, Chemosphere 65 (2006) 1288–1294.
- [132] R. Piskonen, M. Itävaara, Evaluation of chemical pretreatment of contaminated soil to improve PAH bioremediation, Appl. Microbiol. Biotechnol. 65 (2004) 627–634.
- [133] E. Veignie, C. Rafin, D. Landy, S. Fourmentin, G. Surpateanu, Fenton degradation assisted by cyclodextrins of a high molecular weight polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbon benzo[a]pyrene, J. Hazard. Mater. 168 (2009) 1296–1301.
- [134] X. Li, P. Li, X. Lin, C. Zhang, Q. Li, Z. Gong, Biodegradation of aged polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (PAHs) by microbial consortia in soil and slurry phases, J. Hazard. Mater. 150 (2008) 21–26.